IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE # 2008-CA-01343 SCT イ

SHANKIA HILL, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

APPELLEES

V.

STEPHEN MILLS, M.D.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE:

Carroll H. Ingram, Esquire (MS Bar # Jennifer Ingram Wilkinson, Esquire (MS Bar # Ingram Wilkinson, PLLC 2901 Arlington Loop Hattiesburg, MS 39404 P. O. Box 15039 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-5039

John F. Hawkins, Esquire (MS B HAWKINS, STRACENER & GIBSON, PLLC 129B South President Street Post Office Box 24627 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4627 Telephone: (601) 969-9692 Facsimile: (601) 914-3580

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SHANIKA HILL and BRIAN THOMAS

APPELLANTS

APPELLEES

i

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01343

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1: Whether the trial court erroneously excluded Plaintiffs' medical expert by applying a narrow and restrictive *Daubert* analysis based solely upon the lack of peer reviewed literature supportive of the physician's opinions, contrary to the specific ruling in *Poole v. Avara* in which the Mississippi Supreme Court held that peer review by publication remains only one factor of a non-exhaustive list of factors for admissibility under evidence rules with a liberal thrust, and that peer reviewed literature supportive of an expert's opinion is not mandatory for a doctor to meet the criteria set forth in *Daubert*.

Issue No. 2: Whether the trial court erroneously granted the Defendant's procedurally deficient Motion for Summary Judgment on the single issue of wrongful death, summarily disposing of not only the wrongful death claims, but all claims, including claims of medical negligence and personal injury that were not raised in any motion before the Court, by simply adopting *in toto* the Defendant's submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and failing to acknowledge the authorities and arguments cited to the Court by the Plaintiffs or rule upon the Plaintiffs' Motion for Clarification and for Reconsideration or their Motion to Strike Defendant's Untimely Itemization of Material Facts.

Issue No. 3: Whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing to recuse himself pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 16(A), Rule 1.15 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, and Canon 3(E), when during the oral argument of the Defendant's Motion to Strike the Plaintiffs' Expert pursuant to *Daubert* and for Summary Judgment the Court disclosed to all parties that his Court Administrator was a current patient of the Defendant physician, and when at the hearing of the Plaintiffs' Motion for Recusal the Court identified his close family ties to the medical community, specifically that his father practiced medicine at the former Defendant hospital where the events and circumstances of the instant civil action occurred.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a medical negligence and wrongful death case filed on behalf of the Plaintiffs, Shanika Hill and Brian Thomas against Stephen Mills, M.D. as a result of the injuries sustained and damages incurred by the Plaintiffs as a result of Dr. Mills' negligence. **[R12-R22]** This appeal arises from the trial court's June 13, 2008 Memorandum Order and Judgment striking the Plaintiffs' medical expert and summarily dismissing all claims brought by the Plaintiffs against the Defendant. **[R825-R836; RE Tab 2, pp8-19]** The Plaintiffs also appeal the trial court's February 4, 2008 bench ruling denying the Plaintiffs' Motion for Recusal. **[T55; T63-T65; RE Tab 15, pp.142-145]**

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The Plaintiffs initiated this civil action by the filing of a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi on September 6, 2002. The case was originally assigned to then Circuit Court Judge Keith Starrett, who reassigned the case upon his appointment to the Federal Bench to Judge Michael Taylor. Upon Plaintiffs' Motion for Trial Setting, Judge Taylor, on his own motion, recused himself due to a "previous business relationship with the Defendant" and reassigned the case to Judge Mike Smith. Judge Smith soon retired from the Bench and the case was transferred to Judge David Strong. As a result of the discovery process the Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed all Defendants except for Stephen Mills, MD. The case was set for trial to begin November 27, 2007. The week before trial was set to begin the Defendant Stephen Mills filed a Motion to Exclude the Plaintiffs' medical expert pursuant to *Daubert*. The trial of the case was continued to facilitate the parties' adequate briefing of the issues raised in the Defendant's Motion on December 6, 2007. During the delivery of oral argument the Court disclosed to counsel for both

Plaintiff and Defendant that his Court Administrator just that morning had informed him that the Defendant physician was her personal physician. The Court gave Plaintiffs' counsel one week to confer with the Plaintiffs and consider whether a Motion for Recusal was appropriate under the circumstances. The Court proceeded to hear the argument of counsel on the *Daubert* issue. [T4-T5; RE Tab 14, pp. 116-117] The Plaintiffs considered the circumstances and decided that a Motion for Recusal was warranted based upon the Court's disclosure, and upon information learned by the Plaintiffs regarding the Court's close family ties to the local medical community, in particular, to the hospital (a former Defendant in the instant civil action) where the Plaintiffs' cause of action occurred and accrued. [R733-R738] The Court entertained oral argument on the Plaintiffs' recusal motion on February 4, 2008 and denied the Plaintiffs' motion by bench ruling. [T63-T65; RE Tab 15, pp. 142-145] No written order was entered by the Court.

Following the Court's bench ruling, the Court required the parties to submit on or before February 19, 2008, Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law relative to the Defendant's motion to exclude the Plaintiffs' medical expert and the Defendant's motion for summary judgment previously argued on December 6, 2007. **[T65; RE Tab 15, p. 145]** The parties complied and submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Plaintiffs submitting their seven (7) page Proposed Order, and the Defendant submitting his twelve-page Proposed Memorandum Opinion and Order. **[R792-R803; RE Tab 3, pp. 20-31]** On April 9, 2008, the Court entered a three-page Memorandum Opinion and Order granting the Defendant's motion to exclude the Plaintiffs' expert and granting the Defendant's motion for summary judgment. **[R749-R751; RE Tab 4, pp. 32-34]** The Court's Memorandum Opinion and Order reads in pertinent part as follows:

> [The] plaintiffs' expert has been unable to identify, produce or cite any scientific or peer review literature in support of his expert opinion. To the contrary, the testimony of Dr. John C. Morrison cites the *Management of Preterm Labor* from the ACOG Practice

Bulletin, No. 43, May 2003, as well as Williams Obstetrics, 21st and 22nd Editions which contradict the expert testimony of Dr. Fuselier. There is no evidence in the record of any medical treatise or journal which substantiates Dr. Fuselier's opinion. To the contrary, all medical literature produced in this cause contradicts Dr. Fuselier's opinion.

Id. Other than a general statement that "for the foregoing reasons, as well as the considerable record in this case", the Court's April 9, 2008 Memorandum Opinion and Order gives no other explanation for the granting of the Defendant's motions, and did not specify which of the Plaintiffs' claims were summarily dismissed. Accordingly, on April 18, 2008 the Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Clarification and Motion for Reconsideration of the April 9, 2008 Memorandum Opinion and Order, seeking reconsideration of the Court's ruling and also seeking clarification that only the Plaintiffs' wrongful death claims were summarily dismissed, leaving as viable the Plaintiffs' other claims for medical negligence and personal injury. Disagreeing with the Court's finding that all medical literature contradicts the Plaintiffs' medical expert, the Plaintiffs also sought reconsideration of the Court's ruling. **[R752-R774; RE Tab 11, pp. 88-96]**

In the Motion for Clarification and Motion to Reconsider the Plaintiffs set forth the fact that the Defendant had failed to abide by the rules of civil procedure in the filing of the summary judgment, and that the summary judgment motion was deficient. In response, the Defendant filed an Itemization of Material Facts. The Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Strike the untimely itemization. **[R811-819; RE Tab 12, pp. 97-105]** The itemization of material facts was first filed on April 24, 2008, after all briefing had been completed, the hearing had been held, and approximately fourteen days had passed since the trial court first ruled in favor of the Defendant on the deficient motion for summary judgment. **[R807-810]**

On June 13, 2008, without ruling on the Plaintiffs' Motion for Clarification and for Reconsideration and without ruling on the Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike, the Court entered its second Memorandum Order and Judgment, [R825-R836; RE Tab 2, pp. 8-19] this time though,

the Memorandum Order and Judgment that was entered was 12 pages, adopting *in toto* the Proposed Memorandum Order and Judgment submitted by the Defendant in February 2008, [**R792-R803**; **RE Tab 3**, **pp. 20-31**]. The Court's ruling wholly ignored the Plaintiffs' Motion for Clarification and for Reconsideration filed on April 18, 2008 [**R752-R774**; **RE Tab 11**, **pp. 88-96**] and Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Defendant's Untimely Itemization of Material Facts, or in the Alternative, Plaintiffs' Response to Defendant's Itemization of Material Facts. [**R811-819**; **RE Tab 12**, **pp. 97-105**] From the June 13, 2008 Memorandum Order and Judgment the Plaintiffs appealed to this Court.

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

On or about May 8, 2002, Plaintiff Shanika Hill was admitted to King's Daughters Medical Center under the attending physician, Dr. Rushing. [R620; RE Tab 5, p. 41 (depo p. 25, lines 20-23)]. At this time, Plaintiff Shanika Hill was twenty-three years old and was experiencing lower abdominal discomfort and vaginal bleeding. According to gestational history she was an estimated 15 weeks pregnant. Dr. Rushing appropriately treated Ms. Hill on this visit. [R620, RE Tab 5, p. 41 (depo p. 25, lines 20-23); T23, RE Tab 14, p. 120, lines 12-28] She was admitted to the hospital, observed overnight and an ultrasound was performed the next morning. The ultrasound revealed a viable single fetus and confirmed that the gestational age of the fetus was 15 weeks. After approximately twenty hours of observation Ms. Hill was appropriately discharged home with instructions for bed rest and pelvic rest. [R620; RE Tab 5, p. 41 (depo p. 27, lines 3-8)]

Two and one half weeks after her initial visit to Kings Daughters Medical Center, Ms. Hill returned to the emergency room at King's Daughters on Memorial Day, May 27, 2002. [R654, RE Tab 8, p. 59 (depo p. 30 line 10 – p.31, line 25); R690, RE Tab 9, p. 67 (depo p. 49, lines 8-18)] The Plaintiff complained of abdominal and pelvic cramping and vaginal

ł

bleeding consisting of large clots. [R620, RE Tab 5, p. 41 (depo p. 27, line 19 - p. 28, line 16); R654, RE Tab 8, p. 59 (depo p. 30, line 10 - p. 33, line 4]. Without performing an ultrasound, without definitively being able to palpate Ms. Hill's uterus during a vaginal examination, and without examining the blood clots Ms. Hill brought to the hospital with her, the Defendant Dr. Mills misdiagnosed Ms. Hill as having had a complete abortion (commonly referred to as a miscarriage). [R620-R622, RE Tab 5, pp.41-43 (depo p. 27, line 19 - depo p. 31, line 18); R640 -R641, RE Tab 6, pp. 52-53 (depo p. 59, lines 7-22 and depo p. 60, lines 3-17); R654-R655, RE Tab 8, p. 59 (depo p. 32, line 21-p. 33, line 6)]. Defendant Mills, who suggested a treatment plan that consisted of a follow-up at the Health Department, discharged her home with No instructions to return to the emergency room for increased bleeding and cramping. instructions for bed and/or pelvic rest were given. No interventions were prescribed. In fact, the Plaintiff was told that she was no longer pregnant and therefore, she was given no precautionary instructions at all. Dr. Mills did not render appropriate treatment as Dr. Rushing had just two and one half weeks earlier. [R620-R622; RE Tab 5, pp. 41-43 (depo p. 25, line 17 - p. 31, line 18]

On or about June 8, 2002, Plaintiff Shanika Hill arrived at King's Daughters Medical Center for the third time with symptoms of abdominal and pelvic cramping, vaginal bleeding and reporting to the Emergency Room personnel that she had miscarried on May 27, 2002. As a result of this misinformation, Ms. Hill was not immediately transferred to labor and delivery where she could have received obstetrical treatment; rather she was kept in the Emergency Room department. [R655-R656, RE Tab 8, pp. 60-61 (depo p. 36, line 23 – p. 39, line 18); R694, RE Tab 9, p. 71 (depo p. 63, lines 3-8); R719-R720, RE Tab 10, pp.83 – 84 (depo p. 40, line 19 – p. 42, line 14)]. As recorded by Dr. White, one of the Plaintiff's attending physicians on June 8, 2002, while Ms. Hill was waiting in the Emergency Room, she delivered a fully formed 19-week

fetus onto the exam table. [R717, RE Tab 10, p. 81 (depo p. 30, line 7 – p. 31, line 6)]. Dr. White was notified of this unusual occurrence, came to attend to his patient, and cut the umbilical cord. A heartbeat was noted, and the fetus was placed in a sterile container, which was then sent to the laboratory. [R717, RE Tab 10, p. 81 (depo p. 33, lines 15-23)]. The nurse's notes from Ms. Hill's June 8, 2002 presentation to the Emergency Room detail that approximately ten minutes after the container was sent to the lab a call was made from the laboratory relaying that the fetal heart was still beating. [R717, RE Tab 10, p. 81 (depo p. 33 lines 19-22]. By the time the Nurse got to the lab to confirm the call, the heart had stopped beating. [R716, RE Tab 10, p. 80 (depo p. 26, line 18 – p. 27, line 19]. Ms. Hill was transferred from the Emergency Room on June 8, 2002 having delivered a fully formed 19-week fetus two weeks after she had been told that she had miscarried. [R717, RE Tab 10, p. 81 (depo p. 31 line 5 – p. 33, line5].

As a result of the negligent treatment and misdiagnosis she received at Kings Daughters Medical Center by Defendant Dr. Mills on May 27, 2002, and the resulting damages and injuries she sustained, Ms. Hill along with Mr. Brian Thomas, the father of the baby, filed the instant civil action seeking redress for the wrongful death of their unborn daughter and for personal injury. The trial court erroneously excluded the Plaintiffs' medical expert and granted summary judgment, dismissing all of the Plaintiffs' claims and denying the Plaintiffs' their day in court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

For the first two issues presented the Court should utilize a *de novo* standard of review. It is well-settled that appellate courts review a trial court's granting of summary judgment *de novo*. Usually the standard of review for a trial court's exclusion of evidence, including expert witness testimony, is reviewed utilizing an abuse of discretion standard, however, under the particular

circumstances of this case, for at least two reasons the Court should employ a *de novo* standard of review relative to the trial court's excluding the Plaintiffs' medical expert. First, the trial court granted summary judgment only as a result of the trial court's decision to exclude the Plaintiffs' medical expert from testifying. Pursuant to *Morton v. City of Shelby*, 984 So.2d 323 (MS Ct. App. 2007) where the trial court's basis for granting summary judgment is the inclusion or exclusion of evidence, the appellate court should err on the side of caution and review the exclusion of the evidence *de novo*. Second, because the trial court adopted *in toto* the Defendant's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, the appellate court should review the trial court's ruling with heightened scrutiny. *Omnibank of Mantee v. United Southern Bank*, 607 So.2d 76 (Miss Sup. Ct. 1992); *Holden v. Holden*, 608 So.2d 795 (Miss. Sup. Ct. 1996); *MS Dept of Wildlife v. Brannon*, 943 So.2d 53 (Miss Ct. of App. 2006); and *MS Dept. of Transportation v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 108 (Miss Sup. Ct. 2004).

The standard of review for the trial court's denial of the Plaintiffs' motion for recusal is abuse of discretion. The case law is clear in this regard. *Miss. United Methodist Conference v. Brown*, 929 So.2d 907 (Miss. 2006), citing *Hathcock v Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins.*, 912 So.2d 844, 847 (Miss. 2005); and *Bredemeier v. Jackson*, 689 So.2d 770, 774 (Miss. 1997).

II. The trial court erred in excluding the Plaintiffs' medical expert pursuant to Daubert,

The trial court utilized a restrictive analysis of *Daubert* in excluding the Plaintiffs' medical expert, Dr. Paul Fuselier, who has more than 25 years of experience in the active practice of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and who offered relevant and reliable opinions pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702. The trial court found that, though Dr. Fuselier appeared to be qualified, because he could not cite to scientific, peer reviewed literature in support of his opinions related to basic obstetrical care, his opinions were not reliable. The trial court based its

pooler in

ruling on this fact alone in direct contradiction to the Mississippi Supreme Court's 2005 ruling in Richard J. Poole, On Behalf of Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Linda Poole, Deceased v. William T. Avara, M.D. and South Mississippi Surgeons, P.A., 908 So.2d 716; (Miss. 2005), in which the Supreme Court specifically found that citation to scientific literature is not required for a medical expert to qualify as a relevant and reliable expert witness.

III. <u>The trial court erred in summarily dismissing all of Plaintiffs' claims, including claims</u> that were not challenged by the Defendant.

The week prior to trial of this civil action pursuant to *Daubert* the Defendant filed a limited motion to exclude the testimony of the Plaintiffs' medical expert related to the expert's opinion that the defendant physician's actions caused and/or contributed to the failure of the Plaintiff Ms. Hill to maintain her pregnancy to a point of viability. The Defendant's initial motion did not seek summary judgment, nor did it seek to exclude the entirety of the expert's opinion. Prior to the Plaintiffs' response to the Defendant's *Daubert* motion, the Defendant filed an amended motion seeking summary judgment based solely upon the arguments set forth in the initial motion. The Defendant did not comply with the Uniform County and Circuit Court Rules requiring that an itemization of undisputed material facts be filed with all motions for summary judgment. The Defendant's negligence in failing to perform an ultrasound to correctly diagnose a live, 17 ½ week pregnancy was a disputed issue and was not the subject of the Defendant's *Daubert* motion. The trial court granted the Defendant's *Daubert* motion on the

including those claims undisputedly not before the trial court. The Plaintiffs filed a motion for clarification of the trial court's order and a motion to reconsider, yet there is no evidence that the trial court considered these submissions of the Plaintiffs. The trial court simply adopted *in toto* the Defendant's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law without reference to, or even a

mention of, the Plaintiffs' factual recitations or legal argument in their motions for clarification, reconsideration, or to strike the Defendant's untimely filed itemization of material facts.

IV. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Recusal.

During the oral argument on the Defendant's *Daubert* motion the trial court revealed to all parties that his Court Administrator was a current patient of the Defendant physician. This fact, coupled with the fact that the trial judge's father had practiced for years in the local medical community, and specifically at the former defendant hospital where the Plaintiffs' claims and causes of action occurred and accrued, led the Plaintiffs' to the conclusion that a Motion for Recusal was warranted. The Court entertained argument on the Plaintiffs' motion and acknowledged the facts submitted in the Plaintiffs' motion, and further added that his step-father was also a long-time physician in the community. The trial court denied the Plaintiffs' motion for recusal by bench ruling at the conclusion of the hearing. Following the hearing on the issue of recusal, the trial court proceeded to summarily dispose of all of the Plaintiffs' claims by simply adopting the Defendant's findings of fact and conclusions of law without reference to or consideration of the Plaintiffs' submissions to the court, lending credence to and contributing to the appearance of bias against the Plaintiffs' in this civil action. The trial court abused its discretion in denying the Plaintiffs' motion for recusal.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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