IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-01343

SHANIKA HILL, ET AL.	APPELLANTS			
V.				
STEPHEN MILLS, M.D.	APPELLEE			
BRIEF OF APPELLEE				

J. Robert Ramsay, Esq. Ramsay & Hammond, PLLC Post Office Box 16567 Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39404-6567 (601) 264-4499 (601) 264-5588 (Fax) COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was imminently correct and did not abuse its discretion in excluding the proposed opinions of Dr. Fuselier, the Plaintiffs' expert, regarding causation. The court below found that the testimony of the Plaintiff's expert was neither relevant nor reliable. The *Daubert* factors were correctly applied, and in the face of their expert's opinions being overwhelmingly contradicted by the medical literature, the Plaintiffs were unable to come forward with any evidence of reliability other than Dr. Fuselier's years of experience in medicine. The medical expert's "experience" simply does not outweigh the weight of authority in the medical literature that directly contradicts the expert's opinions. Therefore, the trial court appropriately excluded the expert's testimony. Such an evidentiary determination is subject to an abuse of discretion standard, and nothing in this case should subject the trial court's determination to a more stringent standard of review.

The trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Defendant was proper. The exclusion of the Plaintiffs' medical expert testimony defeats key elements of the Plaintiffs medical negligence claims, as the Plaintiffs would be unable to meet their burden of proof. As the medical malpractice claims fail, so too must fail all claims asserted by the Plaintiffs. Without admissible evidence of causation, no claims asserted by the Plaintiffs are sustainable against the Defendant. Thus, entry of summary judgment on all claims was appropriate.

The Plaintiffs were simply regurgitating previously submitted arguments, and failed to submit anything that should rightfully be considered on a Motion for Reconsideration. Furthermore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Plaintiffs Motion for Recusal. None of the concerns articulated by the Plaintiffs would cause a reasonable person to doubt the trial court's impartiality under the totality of the circumstances. Thus, recusal was not warranted.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court's *Daubert* determination excluding Plaintiffs' medical expert's causal opinions/theories was not an abuse of discretion and was consistent with the consensus of the evidence based scientific literature

The trial Court correctly excluded the proposed testimony of Plaintiffs' medical expert pursuant to a reasonable *Daubert* analysis. In 2003, this Supreme Court revised Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 to mirror Federal Rule of Evidence 702:

"If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case."

MISS. R. EVID. 702 (amended, effective May 29, 2003) (emphasis added).

In amending MISS. R. EVID. 702, this Supreme Court adopted the standard announced by the Supreme Court in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, (1993) and *Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 119 S.Ct. 1167 (1999). However, MISS. R. EVID. 702 provided three additional requirements (itemized above) after both *Daubert* and *Kumho Tire*.

i. The opinions and theories of Plaintiffs' medical expert were unsupported and contradicted by the medical literature

As the Court stated in *Kumho Tire*, the factors that will bear on the *Daubert* inquiry depends upon the particular circumstances of the particular case at issue and that there may be circumstances where a claim made by scientific witness has never been the subject of peer review. *Id.* at 151. In *Poole, Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Poole v. Avara, M.D.*, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005), cited by the Appellants on page 15 of their brief, this Court again emphasized

that scientific knowledge means something more than unsupported speculation or subjective belief that is grounded in methods and procedures of science, citing *Kumho Tire* at 590, 113 S.Ct. 2786. In *Poole*, this Court stated that:

Though the *Daubert* factors are meant to be helpful, the application of those factors "depends on the nature of the issue, the expert's particular expertise, and the subject of the testimony,"...Peer review by publication remains only one factor on a non-exhaustive list of factors for admissibility under evidence rules with a liberal thrust. Though helpful when present, publication and peer review are not absolutely required; their absence does not constitute automatic inadmissibility...

Id. at ¶ 17 (emphasis added).

However, *Poole* is totally distinguishable. There this Court found that the fact that the opinion of the physician expert that CPR (chest compressions causing varying pressure in the thoracic/abdominal cavity) could result in bursting of an anastomotic seam in the deceased's colon, had not specifically been the subject matter of publication did not automatically render this testimony to be unreliable. The *Poole* Court stated "simply because no author had written specifically on the theory of bursting an anastomosis seam through CPR does not mean it is truly ground breaking medical history". *Id.* at ¶ 17. Contrarily, the trial Court in the case sub judice was imminently correct and certainly did not abuse his discretion in finding in its Memorandum Opinion and Order dated April 9, 2008¹ that:

"The Plaintiffs' expert has been unable to identify, produce or cite any scientific or peer reviewed literature in support of his expert opinion. To the contrary, the testimony of Dr. John C. Morrison cites the management of preterm labor from ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 43, May 2003, as well as Williams Obstetrics, 21st and 22nd Edition, which contradict the expert testimony of Dr. Fuselier. There is no evidence in the record of any medical treatise or journal which substantiates Dr. Fuselier's opinion. To the contrary, all the medical literature produced in this cause contradicts Dr. Fuselier's opinion." (R.749–751, RE Tab 8).

¹ Of note, the Court's Memorandum Opinion and Order dated April 9, 2008, cites case law not reflected in this Defendant's proposed Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law and bears little resemblance to the form of the Defendant's proposed findings. (R.749-751, RE Tab 8).

Prior to rendering its initial three page Memorandum Opinion and Order dated April 9, 2008, the trial Court had before it the following:

- (1) Sworn deposition of the Plaintiffs' medical expert, Dr. Paul Fuselier; the notice of which required Dr. Fuselier provide "all published or unpublished articles or any other materials relied upon by Dr. Fuselier or otherwise supporting his opinions. At his deposition, Dr. Fuselier neither produced nor could he cite <u>any</u> scientific or peer reviewed literature in support of his opinions that tocolytics, terbutaline, magnesium sulfate or hormones such as progesterone and/or prostaglandins are effective in preventing the termination of a 17 3/7 weeks gestational pregnancy not just for a short period of time but for long periods of time; that bed rest, hydration or pelvic rest probably would prevent spontaneous termination of a 17 3/7 weeks gestational pregnancy; and/or that maintenance treatment with tocolytic medications and/or repeated acute tocolysis would meaningly prolong the 17 3/7 week pregnancy.
- (2) Affidavit and sworn testimony at the hearing by Dr. John Morrison, Maternal/Fetal Specialist and previous Chairman of the Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology at University Medical Center, with citations to the peer reviewed literature including Dr. Morrison's testimony that there does not exist any scientifically reliable literature support for Dr. Fuselier's proposed opinions that bed rest, hydration, pelvic rest or tocolytic therapy has any efficacy in materially prolonging a 17 3/7 weeks gestation in the face of threatened abortion or miscarriage.
- (3) The literature cited by the Defendant at the *Daubert* hearing and attached to his *Daubert* Motion which reflected that there are <u>no effective therapies</u> for threatened abortion (pregnancies spontaneously terminated prior to 20 weeks gestation or a fetus of less than 500 gram birth weight); and that the consensus in the scientific literature for the last 20 30 years, including the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecology, is that even after 20 weeks and before 34 weeks, the effectiveness, if any, of tocolytics, hydration, bed rest, is at best "uncertain".

The testimony of Dr. Fuselier, the Plaintiff's expert, in his deposition was that Dr. Mills deviated from the standard of care in not obtaining an ultrasound on May 27, 2002 in order to confirm pregnancy termination and that if he had performed an ultrasound, Dr. Mills would have known that the pregnancy was still intact, in which event he should have ordered hospitalization, pelvic rest, bed rest, and the administration of medications (tocolytics) to prolong the pregnancy. Dr. Fuselier testified that in his experience these interventions could have prolonged the pregnancy for 8 – 9 additional weeks or longer. At the *Daubert* hearing, the Defendant reflected that the issue of whether the standard of care required that an ultrasound be performed on May

27, 2002, was an <u>issue in dispute</u> albeit the Defendant's expert, Dr. Morrison, was firmly of the opinion and opined that under these circumstances, the standard of care did not require that Dr. Mills obtain an ultrasound especially where the vaginal bleeding had subsided, the cervical os was closed, and no fetal heart tones could be determined on auscultation, etc.

The "opinions" of Dr. Fuselier with regard to the issue of causation, i.e. that there was any intervention which would have materially prolonged this 17 3/7 weeks pregnancy was the subject of the *Daubert* Motion. Dr. Fuselier, in his deposition, conceded that

A: ...let's say that from 8 to 13 weeks or 8 to 14 weeks or whatever, those patients who -- and most patients who have spotting and bleeding do not have a miscarriage, but some do. Is it of value to recommend bed rest and pelvic rest and no intercourse? And -- probably not. Most of us would do that, and it's appropriate in my opinion because if you go home and have intercourse and the next day you have a miscarriage, intercourse really didn't cause it. But there's these feelings --

Q: There's a temporal relationship in the patient's mind.

A: And you feel like you're doing something -- or the patient feels like, I'm doing something to try and help the pregnancy.

(Deposition of Dr. Fuselier p. 32, lines 12-25; 33, lines 1-2; **R. at 549, RE Tab 3**; *Daubert* **Hearing Tr. 7-8, RE Tab 1**). However, Dr. Fuselier tried to hedge with regard to the pregnancy period from 14 – 20 weeks, and mischaracterize the events of May 27, 2002 with regard to this 17 3/7 weeks pregnancy as "premature labor", for which bed rest, pelvic rest, and medicines (tocolytics) would have prolonged the pregnancy, not just for a short period, but for 8 – 10 weeks; or even longer.² (Deposition of Dr. Fuselier, pp. 34 – 56; R. at 551–573, RE Tab 3).

Before the Court at the *Daubert* hearing, the undisputed facts were that when Shanika Hill presented on May 27, at which time she was seen by Dr. Mills, the gestational age of her

² On page 20 of Appellants' brief, they mischaracterize Dr. Mills' deposition testimony that had his impression on May 27, 2002 been that there had been no abortion but simply a threatened abortion, he would have advised pelvic rest; in the same breath Dr. Mills testified that bed rest or pelvic rest nor any other intervention helps prevent an early second trimester miscarriage. (Deposition of Dr. Mills, pp. 61 – 62; R. 642 – 643).

pregnancy was only 17 3/7 weeks and upon physical examination, the <u>cervical os was closed</u>. At the time of the inevitable (spontaneous) abortion on June 8, 2002, the gestation of the pregnancy was only 19 weeks and, the weight of the fetus was only 205 grams. These facts are undisputed!

The distinction between "threatened abortion" and "preterm labor" is not just a matter of semantics; there exists a clear medical distinction between these two terms. The peer reviewed literature consistently reflects the following:

- (1) **Abortus.** A fetus or embryo removed or expelled from the uterus during the first half of gestation (20 weeks or less) weighing less than 500 grams.³
- (2) Abortion is the termination of pregnancy either spontaneously or intentionally, before the fetus develops sufficiently to survive. By convention, abortion is usually defined as pregnancy termination <u>prior to</u>

 20 weeks gestation or less than 500 gram birth weight.⁴
- (3) Threatened abortion. The clinical diagnosis of threatened abortion is presumed when a bloody vaginal discharge or bleeding appears through a closed cervical os during the first half (20 weeks) of pregnancy.⁵
- (4) There are no effective therapies for threatened abortion. Bedrest, although often prescribed, does not alter the course of threatened abortion.⁶
- (5) Inevitable Abortion. Gross rupture of the membranes, evidenced by leaking amniotic fluid, in the presence of cervical dilation signals almost certain abortion. ... Rarely a gush of fluid from the uterus <u>during the first half of pregnancy</u> is without serious consequence ... if, however, the gush of fluid is accompanied or followed by bleeding, pain or fever, abortion should be considered inevitable and the uterus empty.⁷

At the time of Ms. Shanika Hill's presentation on May 27, she was not in "preterm labor", i.e. regular contractions with cervical change (the cervical os was closed) in the perinatal period. On May 27, Ms. Hill's pregnancy was not even in the perinatal period (greater than 20 weeks).

³ Williams Obstetrics, 21st Edition, Chapter 1, p. 5 (2001); (R.442, RE Tab 3).

Williams Obstetrics, 22nd Edition, Chapter 9, p. 232 (2005); (R.497, RE Tab 3).

⁵ Id at p. 239; (R.504, RE Tab 3).

⁶ Id at p. 240; (R.505, RE Tab 3).

⁷Id at p. 240; (R.505, RE Tab 3).

However, the peer reviewed literature with regard to "preterm labor" again is consistent and instructive:

- (1) **Perinatal period.** This includes all births weighing 500 grams or more and ends at 28 complete days after birth. When perinatal rates are based on gestational age rather than birth weight, it is recommended that the perinatal period be defined to commence at 20 weeks.⁸
- (2) A preterm delivery, as defined by the World Health Organization is one that occurs at less than 37 and more than 20 weeks gestational age.⁹
- (3) Preterm labor is usually defined as regular contractions accompanied by cervical change occurring at less than 37 weeks gestation (and greater than 20 weeks). 10
- (4) (With regard to "preterm labor", i.e., regular contractions accompanied by cervical change occurring in pregnancies of more than 20 weeks gestational age and less than 37 weeks gestational age), the evidence based medicine...[reveals]...those things for which there is no evidence of efficacy,...[which]...include hydration, sedation, bedrest, home uterine activity monitoring, tocolytics without the concomitant use of corticosteroid.¹¹

The American College of Obstetrics & Gynecology published its Practice Bulletin for Management of Preterm Labor in 2003 which (while not applicable to a 17 3/7 weeks pregnancy and a fetal weight of less than 500 grams) encapsulates the consensus of the scientific literature regarding preterm labor, *i.e.*, regular contractions with cervical change (occurring in the perinatal period, *i.e.*, greater than 20 weeks and less than 37 weeks gestation):

- (1) **Tocolytic drugs** may prolong gestation for 2-7 days which can provide time for administration of steroids...the benefits for prolonging pregnancy for 2-7 days are otherwise unclear.¹²
- (2) With regard to *preterm* labor (i.e., a pregnancy of a gestational age of greater than 20 weeks, with regular contractions and cervical change), "[a]lthough bedrest, pelvic rest and hydration are commonly recommended to women with symptoms of preterm labor to prevent preterm delivery, the effectiveness of these

⁸ Williams Obstetrics, 21st Edition, Chapter 1, p. 5 (2001); (R.442, RE Tab 3).

⁹ The Management of Preterm Labor, Goldenberg, R.I.; Obstetrics and Gynecology, Volume 100, No. 5, Part I, p. 1020 (2002); (R.478; RE Tab 3).

¹⁰ Id at 1021; (R.478A, RE Tab 3).

¹¹ Id at 1034; (R.491, RE Tab 3).

¹² Management of Preterm Labor, ACOG Practice Bulletin, No. 43, p. 535, May 2003; (R.433, RE Tab 3).

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